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BEFORE THE IOWA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSIONER

______________________________________________________________________



  :

LEOPOLDO ZAVALA,
  :



  :

   File No. 5033035

Claimant,
  :



  :

vs.

  :



  :        
   A R B I T R A T I O N                  

TYSON FRESH MEATS,
  :



  :                          D E C I S I O N  


Self-Insured Employer,
  :



  :                           

Defendant.
  :                 


  :  
         Head Note Nos.:  1702, 1803 
______________________________________________________________________

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Claimant, Leopoldo Zavala, filed a petition in arbitration seeking workers’ compensation benefits from Tyson Fresh Meats, self-insured employer, as defendant, as a result of a stipulated injury sustained on September 10, 2009.  This matter came on for hearing before Deputy Workers’ Compensation Commissioner, Erica J. Elliott, on April 21, 2011, in Sioux City, Iowa.  The record in this case consists of claimant’s exhibits 1 through 11, defendants’ exhibits A through G, and the testimony of the claimant and Renea Kestel.  The parties submitted post-hearing briefs, the matter being fully submitted on May 12, 2011.

ISSUES

The parties submitted the following issues for determination:
1. Whether the stipulated injury of September 10, 2009 is a cause of permanent disability and, if so; 
2. The extent of claimant’s industrial disability; and

3. Specific taxation of costs.  

The stipulations of the parties in the hearing report are incorporated by reference in this decision.  
FINDINGS OF FACT

The undersigned, having considered all of the evidence and testimony in the record, finds:

Claimant exhibited appropriate demeanor, eye contact, and body positioning at the time of evidentiary hearing.  Although claimant’s testimony, particularly with regard to his succession of job positions with defendant, is somewhat unclear, the undersigned observed claimant appear confused at various points throughout the course of his testimony at evidentiary hearing.  Upon review of the medical records in evidence, it appears claimant displayed similar problems in visits with multiple physicians.  It is the belief of the undersigned that this lack of clarity is due to claimant’s inability to adequately describe his symptoms, a difficulty magnified by the use of a translator.  When the evidence is viewed as a whole and coupled with claimant’s demeanor, the undersigned finds claimant to be credible.
Claimant was 58 years of age at the time of hearing.  He currently resides in Storm Lake, Iowa.  Work history prior to 1985 is limited to agricultural jobs in his native Mexico.  In 1985, claimant immigrated to the United States.  His employment in the United States consists of agricultural work for fruit producers and his work for defendant.  Claimant began work at defendant in 1998.  Claimant has continuously been employed by defendant since that date, with the exception of a three-month period of family emergency in Mexico during the year 2000.  (Claimant’s testimony; Exhibit 8, pages 117-118)  
Claimant testified when he was hired by defendant, his initial position was an “open face” job which required claimant to use a knife to remove meat from a hog.  Claimant testified the duties did not involve heavy lifting but rather, fast movements with his right arm and neck.  Claimant testified he then moved into a different position requiring him to cut loins and toss the loins onto a conveyor belt.  Duties included retrieving a 3 to 5 pound loin from above shoulder level and cutting and throwing the loin onto another belt.  Claimant then moved into a position trimming bone chips from meat using a whizzard knife (button bones job).  Claimant then moved into his final bid position, cleaning bone chips and fat off loins and performing general trimming, all using a regular straight knife (final trim job).  Claimant testified in the final trim job, the loins weighed approximately 2 to 4 pounds and he was required to push the loins, not throw them, onto another belt.  (Claimant’s testimony)  At the time of his stipulated work injury of September 10, 2009, claimant earned $13.25 per hour performing the final trim job.  (Ex. 11, p. 134)  Claimant is right-hand dominant.  (Exhibit G, page 17)  
Claimant’s formal education is limited to completion of the second grade in Mexico.  (Claimant’s testimony; Ex. 8, p. 116)  Claimant speaks only Spanish, which he is also able to read and write, slowly.  Although claimant took approximately two months of English classes, he is unable to speak, read, or write in English.  He has no skills in typing or computer usage.  (Claimant’s testimony)          
On July 10, 2002, claimant received medical care after falling onto his behind at defendant when he slipped and fell upon a piece of fat on June 20, 2002.  David Archer, M.D., diagnosed a lumbrosacral strain and treated with physical therapy, prescription naprosyn and trazodone, and work restrictions.  (Claimant’s testimony; Ex. C, p. 1)  Claimant continued to receive follow-up care, including advice regarding arthritic changes discovered in his back.  (Ex. C, pp. 1-4)  Claimant was declared to have obtained maximum medical improvement (MMI) on September 5, 2002.  (Ex. C, p. 4)  Claimant returned for additional medical care on February 19, 2003, complaining of recurrent back pain.  Due to claimant’s complaints and his degenerative disc and joint disease, Dr. Archer imposed work restrictions and claimant was referred to “back school with Donovan and Donohue.”  (Ex. C, p. 5)  

Claimant presented to James Donohue, M.D., on February 26, 2003.  Following examination, Dr. Donohue assessed a healing acute L2 compression fracture, lumbar and parascapular dysfunction presumably due to inflammation, and degenerative changes of the thoracal lumbar junction.  Dr. Donohue recommended aggressive monitored rehabilitation for 6 to 8 weeks, but allowed claimant to continue his regular work activities as tolerated.  (Ex. D, pp. 1-3)  In April, claimant was transitioned into a home exercise program.  (Ex. D, p. 4)  Dr. Donohue recommended a functional capacity evaluation (FCE) in June 2003.  (Ex. D, p. 5)  At a follow-up appointment on July 23, 2003, Dr. Donahue reviewed claimant’s FCE results.  He adopted the restrictions set forth in the FCE, summarized by defendant as a maximum lift of 20 pounds frequently and 35 pounds occasionally; occasional bending, twisting, squatting, kneeling, climbing, and crawling; and frequent gripping, pinching, pulling, and pushing.  (Ex. A, pp. 1-2; Ex. D, p. 6)  Dr. Donohue indicated the button bones job fell within claimant’s restrictions.  (Ex. D, pp. 8-9)  On September 17, 2003, Dr. Donohue opined claimant had achieved MMI and had sustained a permanent impairment of 8 percent whole person.  (Ex. D, pp. 10-12)  Defendant made payment of 15 percent industrial disability or 75 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits.  Claimant returned to full duty working the button bones job.  (Claimant’s testimony; Ex. A, pp. 4-7)

On December 23, 2003, defendant referred claimant for care with Dr. Archer for bilateral neck pain, more so on the left, stretching into the shoulders.  Prescription naprosyn and trazadone were provided, with claimant referred for development of an aerobic and stretching routine.  (Ex. C, p. 6)  Continued problems led to an assessment of mild age-related neck and back symptoms and a recommendation of physical therapy in January 2004.  (Ex. C, p. 7)  Claimant was declared at MMI in February 2004.  (Ex. C, p. 8)  
On January 3, 2006, claimant sought care with Dr. Archer for neck and shoulder pain which he related to an injury at defendant on or about November 25, 2005.  Neck and bilateral shoulder strains were assessed, treated conservatively with naprosyn, trazadone, physical therapy, and work restrictions.  Claimant continued to follow-up.  On 
January 31, 2006, a rotator cuff strain and intrascapular muscle strain was assessed, with continued physical therapy and use of prescription sulindac and Vicodin were recommended.  At a follow-up visit on February 14, 2006, claimant’s work hours were limited to 6 hours and Vicodin was no longer prescribed.  (Ex. C, pp. 9-11)  
On March 14, 2006, claimant returned for follow-up.  Dr. Archer noted claimant provided a difficult interview, even with the use of an interpreter, and gave contradictory answers.  An MRI of the right shoulder and cervical spine was recommended.  Nerve conduction studies of the right upper extremity were also recommended and revealed moderate carpal tunnel syndrome with referred pain; a wrist splint was provided.  (Ex. C, p. 13)  On March 29, 2006, claimant returned to Dr. Archer.  At that time, Dr. Archer opined claimant’s MRI of the neck and shoulder revealed arthritis and a little cervical degenerative joint disease.  Dr. Archer recommended permanent restrictions of no overhead reach or lift, avoidance of turning the wrist while working, and avoidance of static forward head positioning.  These restrictions were specified to be in addition to those already in place due to the 2002 injury.  Claimant returned to work in the final trim job.  (Ms. Kestel’s testimony; Ex. A, pp. 9, 11-12; Ex. C, p. 13)  Dr. Archer opined claimant achieved MMI on April 13, 2006.  (Ex. C, p. 14) 
In November 2008, claimant began to suffer with weakness and unsteadiness of his arms and legs, later diagnosed as Guillain-Barre syndrome.  Claimant was removed from work for much of the month of December 2008 and referred for physical therapy by Alejandro Tobon, M.D.  (Claimant’s testimony; Ex. E, pp. 1-2; Ex. F, pp. 1-2)  Claimant underwent an FCE on April 7, 2009, performed by occupational therapist, Julia White.  Ms. White opined claimant was unable to return to any position at defendant without first undergoing a work conditioning program.  (Ex. E, p. 13)  Claimant testified he was off work for approximately six to seven months; during this time claimant improved and was released to return to work without restrictions the end of June 2009.  Claimant returned to his same job at defendant.  (Claimant’s testimony)   
Claimant denied any prior injuries to his right shoulder or neck or any limitations related to either region.  (Claimant’s testimony)

On September 10, 2009, claimant was working at defendant when he slipped upon a piece of fat on the ground and fell upon his right shoulder and neck.  Claimant also struck his head upon the floor.  Claimant testified he did not feel immediate pain, but pain developed over time and prevented claimant from continuing to work.  He presented to the nurse’s station later that day.  (Claimant’s testimony; Ex. 1, p. 14; Ex. G, pp. 11-12)  Medical notes completed by defendant’s health services indicate claimant slipped and fell onto his right shoulder and arm on September 10, 2009.  Claimant was provided ice and ibuprofen, and taken off work the remainder of his shift.  (Ex. A, pp. 1-2)  Renea Kestel, nurse case manager for defendant, testified at the time of the work injury, claimant was performing his final trim job.  (Ms. Kestel’s testimony)   

Claimant returned to health services for follow-up the next day with complaints of continued symptoms.  A reduction in claimant’s work was offered but declined by claimant as he indicated he believed he could perform his duties and did not want to “sit around [and] do nothing.”  Claimant was provided a prescription for pain reliever and anti-inflammatory, Mediproxen.  (Ex. 1, p. 2)  Claimant continued to follow-up periodically at health services with complaints of right shoulder pain.  On September 21, 2009, claimant requested evaluation by a doctor to determine the cause of his right shoulder problem; a referral to that effect was made.  (Ex. 1, p. 2)
On September 28, 2009, at the referral of defendant, claimant presented for evaluation with Dr. Archer.  Dr. Archer reviewed the medical notes from health services and took a history from claimant; he concurred with a history of injury of falling to the floor and landing upon the right shoulder after slipping on a piece of meat.  Dr. Archer diagnosed a rotator cuff sprain.  Dr. Archer prescribed Naproxen and Trazadone and referred claimant for physical therapy.  He allowed claimant to return to work under restrictions for the period of September 28 through October 14, 2009.  Restrictions on the right arm included pushing and pulling on an occasional basis and no reaching above shoulder level.  (Ex. 1, p. 16; Ex. 2, pp. 43-44)  Claimant returned to work light duty on September 28, 2009, performing an “inspect trim” job.  (Ex. 1, p. 15) 

Claimant returned to Dr. Archer on October 14, 2009, reporting worsening of shoulder pain.  Dr. Archer assessed a right rotator cuff sprain and localized joint pain.  Dr. Archer recommended continued physical therapy and work restrictions of only occasional gripping, pinching, pushing, and pulling, and no reaching above shoulder level.  He also recommended an orthopedic consultation with Dr. Deffer, for consideration of a steroid injection.  (Ex. 1, pp. 17-18; Ex. 2, p. 45)

Claimant underwent physical therapy from October 1 through October 28, 2009.  (Ex. 3, pp. 64-66) 

Claimant presented to Philip Deffer Jr., M.D., on November 5, 2009.  Claimant reported neck, head, and bilateral shoulder pain, worse on the right.  (Ex. 1, p. 21; Ex. 4, pp. 67-68)  On examination, Dr. Deffer noted claimant could easily reach his right hand to the back of his neck and head, but claimant halted while moving his shoulder through a range of motion exam.  Dr. Deffer described this examination as “a little bit paradoxical.”  (Ex. 4, p. 67)  He also noted claimant reported a previous injury at defendant to his shoulder and neck, from which his pain never improved.  (Ex. 4, pp. 67-68)  Dr. Deffer diagnosed right shoulder, neck, and left shoulder pain.  Dr. Deffer opined claimant’s primary problem was his right shoulder and due to unresponsiveness to physical therapy, he recommended an MRI of the right shoulder.  He also noted he did not examine or assume care regarding claimant’s cervical spine.  Pending completion of the MRI, Dr. Deffer recommended continued light duty and imposed work restrictions of a maximum 5-pound lift on an occasional basis; occasional gripping, pinching, pushing, and pulling with both hands; and no reach above shoulder level.  (Ex. 1, p. 21; Ex. 4, pp. 67-68)

Claimant underwent a right shoulder MRI on November 2, 2009.  The radiologist opined the results revealed a full-thickness tear of the anterior two-thirds of the supraspinatus tendon at its insertion site on the greater tuberosity of the humerous head, severe attenuation of the long head of the biceps tendon, and moderate degenerative hypertrophic changes in the acromioclavicular joint.  (Ex. 5, p. 70)
On November 12, 2009, claimant returned to Dr. Deffer.  Dr. Deffer expressed difficulty “piecing together” claimant’s source of pain, as claimant indicated multiple body parts, including his shoulder, neck and upper back.  Dr. Deffer indicated he was evaluating claimant for right shoulder pain; however, claimant indicated the pain existed more in the neck and head.  (Ex. 4, p. 69)  Upon review of claimant’s right shoulder MRI, Dr. Archer opined it revealed a partial thickness rotator cuff tear.  On examination, however, he noted claimant had full range of motion in his shoulder, no crepitus, and no pain.  Dr. Deffer noted claimant instead pointed to the midline of his neck, leading Dr. Deffer to conclude the pain arose more from the midline of the neck rather than the shoulder.  Dr. Deffer diagnosed an asymptomatic right rotator cuff tear and neck pain.  He specifically stated he did not recommend surgery or further treatment regarding the shoulder.  Dr. Archer recommended further evaluation and treatment of claimant’s neck complaints and referred claimant back to Dr. Archer for such care.  He recommended continued work restrictions of a maximum 5-pound lift on an occasional basis; occasional gripping, pinching, pushing, and pulling with the right arm; and no reach above shoulder level.  (Ex. 1, p. 23; Ex. 4, p. 69)
Claimant returned to Dr. Archer on November 27, 2009 with complaints of neck and bilateral shoulder pain.  Dr. Archer interviewed claimant regarding his current symptoms and indicated claimant’s responses were “very vague,” even with the use of a good interpreter.  After extensive discussion, claimant reported numbness and pain on the median nerve side of the right hand, extending into the arm, shoulder, and neck.  Dr. Archer noted claimant appeared to move both arms easily.  Dr. Archer noted claimant’s history of Guillain-Barre syndrome, but indicated claimant’s current complaints dated from the fall on September 10, 2009 and the injury to the right shoulder and neck.  (Ex. 2, p. 46)  On examination, Dr. Archer noted muscle aches in the right shoulder, upper trapezius, and lower neck regions, joint pain localized in the right shoulder and lower neck, and sensory disturbances suggestive of a right C6 radiculopathy or right carpal tunnel syndrome.  (Ex. 2, p. 47)  Dr. Archer stated:

Comment: [Claimant’s] c/o do not fit well w/ the physical findings.  Even w/ a good interpreter he was difficult to interview to discover the actual facts.  He continuously c/o his pain indicating the entire RUE from the neck to fingertips and avoided hard answers to questions I asked to determine the mechanism of injury, exact location of his pain, provocative and relieving factors of his pain and evolution of his sx for the last two 
months in an effort to determine the likely cause of his pain.  Dr Deffer had a similar experience w/ him and I certainly agree that w/ this degree of uncertainty, proceeding w/ surgery would be contraindicated.  Perhaps consultation once again w/ Dr Tobon who can interview [claimant] first hand in Spanish would be useful at this point.
(Ex. 2, p. 48)

Dr. Archer assessed a partial tear of the rotator cuff, and neck, arm, and shoulder joint pain.  He recommended bilateral upper extremity EMGs with Dr. Hurd.  Dr. Archer imposed work restrictions of a maximum frequent and occasional lift of 5 pounds and restricted use of the right arm, specifically only occasional gripping, pinching, pushing, and pulling, and no reaching above shoulder level.  (Ex. 1, p. 25; Ex. 2, p. 48)

Marvin Hurd, M.D., performed EMG testing on December 4, 2009.  Dr. Hurd opined nerve conduction studies were within normal limits and the EMG revealed no abnormalities.  He assessed bilateral distal median neuropathies consistent with mild or early bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome.  (Ex. 1, p. 26; Ex. 2, pp. 49-50)

Dr. Archer reviewed the EMG results and drafted a letter to claimant on December 7, 2009, stating the testing revealed very mild bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome, but no evidence of nerve damage at the neck or any residual Guillain-Barre problems.  Dr. Archer opined no treatment was indicated outside of work restrictions.  (Ex. 2, p. 51)

On December 8, 2009, claimant returned to Dr. Archer.  Dr. Archer assessed carpal tunnel syndrome and pain in the shoulder and neck, right more so than left.  Dr. Archer indicated claimant’s mild carpal tunnel syndrome would account for claimant’s right arm symptoms and was not a result of claimant’s fall in September 2009. He noted claimant’s right carpal tunnel symptoms dated to at least March 2006, yet acknowledged claimant had been asymptomatic prior to his fall.  (Ex. 1, p. 28; Ex. 2, pp. 52-54)  He referred claimant to Dr. Tobon, as Dr. Tobon could interview claimant in Spanish and potentially better determine “the exact nature of [claimant’s symptoms] and recommend a treatment strategy.”  (Ex. 2, p. 54)  Dr. Archer recommended work restrictions of no lifting greater than 5 pounds frequently and 10 pounds occasionally, and no reaching above the shoulder with the right arm.  (Ex. 1, p. 28; Ex. 2, p. 54)  
Defendant returned claimant to his final trim job.  Claimant’s work restrictions are noted and claimant’s work assignment was designated as a “modified job.”  However, notes indicate claimant’s supervisor stated claimant’s final trim job fell within the restrictions as assigned.  (Ex. 1, p. 27)  

On December 30, 2009, claimant spoke with Ms. Kestel and an HR manager.  Claimant was informed he was “being placed out of plant” per defendant’s restricted duty policy, as claimant had received medical care for more than 90 days.  (Ex. 1, p. 7)  Defendant’s internal documents indicate claimant was placed off work as of December 31, 2009, due to a work-related medical condition, per “R.D. protocol.”  (Ex. 1, pp. 30-31)  At the time of his deposition, claimant testified he was off work for 4 days before defendant contacted him and offered to return him to work.  Claimant accepted the offer and returned to work.  (Ex. G, p. 28)
Claimant presented to Dr. Tobon, on February 11, 2010.  Dr. Tobon assessed a likely right rotator cuff sprain and neck pain.  (Ex. 1, pp. 33-34; Ex. 2, p. 56)  He continued:

. . . .  Based on clinical information provided by patient, he had prior problems with the right shoulder in 2006 but was asymptomatic until most recent fall in September of 2009.  Since then, he is complaining of moderate pain affecting the right shoulder and neck region.  On examination, there is evidence of pain with passive range of motion of the right shoulder which implies local pathology.  He probably has some degree of rotator cuff sprain.  He has some mild spasm of the cervical paraspinal muscles, and I will obtain a cervical spine MRI to see if there is any additional injury responsible for his neck symptoms.  EMG study did not show any evidence of cervical radiculopathy and shows an incidental carpal tunnel syndrome which can be responsible for his sensory symptoms affecting the right hand.  He will be prescribed with a wrist brace to wear at night.  Depending on the results of the MRI of the cervical spine, we will decide if additional intervention is required.  I will defer to orthopedic surgery the management of right shoulder injury.  At this point I will focus my attention predominantly on the neck symptoms and the carpal tunnel.  None of his current problems has any relationship to his history of Gullain-Barre syndrome.  At this point he was prescribed tizanidine 2 mg at bedtime as a muscle relaxant, and he can continue using naproxen on a p.r.n. basis.  I do not think that he has any restriction to work at this point.
(Ex. 2, p. 56) 

On February 26, 2010, plant nurse, David Griggs, R.N., observed claimant performing his final trim duties for a period of 20 minutes.  Mr. Griggs observed claimant continuously keeping his neck in a tight and flexed position, resulting in a bulging of claimant’s lateral neck muscles.  Mr. Griggs summonned claimant and his supervisor for a discussion of this issue and “after lengthy communication it is decided, with approval & gratitude of [claimant], that [claimant] will be reassigned to 27L0-Whiz Knife/Button Bone.”  (Ex. 1, p. 10)  An opening in that position became available on March 8, 2010, at which time claimant began to perform the button bone job at one-half speed.  (Ex. 1, pp. 10-11, 36)  Defendant’s job analysis summary for the button bones job indicates 
duties include removing button bones and other bone fragments from loins; employees are required to lift and hold a whizzard knife weighing 2 pounds and cut out bones weighing less than 1 pound.  (Ex. 11, p. 137) 

Claimant underwent a cervical spine MRI on March 10, 2010.  The radiologist read the MRI to reveal minimal disc degeneration with minimal generalized disc bulge at C4-5, very mild disc degeneration with minimal right postero-lateral disc protrusion at C5-6, and moderate disc degeneration with small broad-based right posterolateral disc protrusion at C6-7.  (Ex. 2, p. 59)

Claimant returned to Dr. Tobon on March 11, 2010.  Dr. Tobon reviewed claimant’s MRI and opined it revealed minimal generalized disc bulging at C4-5 and C5-6 and a very small right posterolateral disc protrusion at C6-7.  (Ex. 2, pp. 60-61)  Dr. Tobon assessed neck pain, shoulder joint pain, cervical disc degeneration, and mild carpal tunnel.  (Ex. 1, p. 37; Ex. 2, p. 61)  Dr. Tobon recommended conservative management of claimant’s carpal tunnel, including anti-inflammatories and use of a right wrist splint at night.  In the event of worsening symptoms, Dr. Tobon recommended an orthopedic surgery consultation.  With regard to claimant’s neck and shoulder pain, Dr. Tobon indicated he suspected claimant’s shoulder pain was “not neurological in origin and more likely related to intrinsic shoulder injury.”  (Ex. 2, p. 61)  Dr. Tobon noted claimant had previously received an orthopedic consultation, yet indicated a reevaluation may be necessary if claimant continued to complain of significant joint pain.  Dr. Tobon opined claimant’s MRI revealed very mild degenerative changes at C4-5 and C6-7, but no evidence of spinal cord or root compression.  He opined based upon claimant’s negative EMG, claimant’s symptoms were not radicular in nature.  When combined with “the high incidence of false positive lesions on MRIs of the cervical spine,” Dr. Tobon opined “I do not think that this is an explanation for his current complaints.”  (Ex. 2, p. 61)  Dr. Tobon indicated no further testing was required from a neurological standpoint and suggested continued conservative management.  He opined claimant could return to work without limitations.  (Ex. 1, p. 37; Ex. 2, p. 61)  

Claimant returned to Dr. Archer on March 19, 2010 with complaints of right shoulder, upper back, and neck pain.  Dr. Archer assessed right neck and shoulder joint pain.  He opined claimant had achieved maximum medical improvement (MMI) and discharged claimant from care.  Further, Dr. Archer noted, “[t]wo specialists and this examiner have not found significant functional abnormality despite some age related changes.”  (Ex. 2, p. 63)  Dr. Archer noted despite some continued symptoms, it was safe for claimant to return to work and advised claimant to return to his current button bone job, starting at half pace and increasing as tolerated.  Dr. Archer further opined claimant had sustained no ratable impairment due to the work injury.  (Ex. 1, pp. 39-40; Ex. 2, pp. 62-63)  

On March 19, 2010, Mr. Griggs returned claimant to his final trim position.  (Ex. 1, p. 38)  On March 26, 2010, claimant “down bid” into the button bone job.  (Ms. Kestel’s testimony; Ex. B, p. 1)  On March 31, 2010, Mr. Griggs noted claimant’s duties performing the button bone job were outside claimant’s restrictions, in that claimant was restricted from reaching above shoulder level and claimant was forced to reach above that level to hang and retrieve his whizzard knife.  Following discussion with the safety department and claimant’s supervisor, it was determined that the coworker stationed beside claimant would hang and retrieve claimant’s knife.  (Ex. 1, p. 12)

By a letter dated April 1, 2010, Ms. Kestel asked Dr. Archer if claimant’s permanent restrictions were still indicated, namely frequent lift of up to 20 pounds; occasional lift of up to 35 pounds; occasional bend, twist, squat, kneel, climb and crawl; frequent grip, pinch, push, and pull; and no overhead reach.  Ms. Kestel testified she inquired of Dr. Archer as claimant wanted to bid into the button bones job, but was unable to do so in the event the job was outside his restrictions, specifically the ability to reach overhead to hang the whizzard knife.  (Ms. Kestel’s testimony; Ex. 1, p. 41)  On April 5, 2010, Dr. Archer circled “NO,” indicating the restrictions were no longer medically necessary and claimant could return to the button bone job.  (Ex. 1, p. 41)  On April 6, 2010, claimant was awarded the button bone job, as Dr. Archer had discontinued claimant’s restrictions.  (Ex. B, p. 2)

Mr. Griggs’ notes of April 9, 2010 indicate claimant’s physician was called at claimant’s request to have his restrictions lifted, in order to allow claimant to continue his button bone job.  (Ex. 1, p. 12)  That same date, defendant provided claimant a copy of his revised permanent restrictions, indicating “all previous permanent restrictions” had been rescinded by Dr. Archer on April 5, 2010.  (Ex. B, pp. 3-4)
Claimant testified he performed the button bones job for a period of one to two weeks, yet ultimately returned to the final trim position and continued in that position at the time of evidentiary hearing.  Claimant testified that the button bones job resulted in pain in his right arm and although the final trim job also results in pain, his pain with the final trim job is less severe and as a result, he prefers performing the final trim job.  (Claimant’s testimony)  

Ms. Kestel testified at the time of evidentiary hearing, she believed claimant continued in the button bone bid position.  She admitted however, she had not observed claimant in over one year and was not entirely certain whether claimant continued in this position.  She testified she had no reason to dispute claimant’s testimony that at the time of evidentiary hearing, claimant was employed in the final trim position and found the duties incident to this position to be more tolerable.  (Ms. Kestel’s testimony) 
At the referral of claimant’s counsel, on April 20, 2010, claimant underwent a functional capacity evaluation (FCE) with physical therapist, Mark Blankespoor.  Mr. Blankespoor opined claimant gave maximum, consistent effort on all test items and the FCE results were valid.  He further opined claimant’s complaints of right shoulder and neck pain were credible, as claimant exhibited legitimate and reproducible symptoms.  Claimant’s results placed him within the light physical demand category, lifting up to 25 pounds rarely up to 15 pounds occasionally, and 5 pounds frequently, in front carry tasks.  Claimant also demonstrated the following abilities: 15-pound maximum lift from waist to floor rarely, and 5 pounds occasionally; 15-pound maximum lift waist to crown rarely, 5 pounds occasionally, and 2 pounds frequently; 10-pound maximum right arm carry, rarely; push up to 30 pounds; pull up to 24 pounds; occasional elevated work, trunk rotation, squatting, and stair use; rare forward bending, crawling, kneeling, and step ladder use; and an inability to crouch.  (Ex. 6, pp. 74-76, 81)
On May 5, 2010, claimant presented for an independent medical evaluation (IME) with Jacqueline Stoken, D.O.  At that time, claimant reported complaints of pain in the right shoulder and arm, upper thoracic region, and neck.  (Ex. 7, pp. 88, 91)  Following examination, Dr. Stoken opined claimant’s work injury of September 10, 2009 had resulted in a right shoulder contusion, right rotator cuff tear, and upper thoracic and neck contusion with disc protrusions at C5-6 and C6-7.  She also assessed chronic pain of the neck and right shoulder.  With regard to claimant’s right shoulder, Dr. Stoken opined claimant had sustained a 14 percent upper extremity or 8 percent whole person impairment due to deficits in range of motion.  She recommended claimant avoid work at or above shoulder level and adopted the findings of the April 20, 2010 FCE, namely that claimant work within the light physical demand category and limit lifting to 25 pounds rarely and 15 pounds occasionally with front carry tasks.  She also recommended pain management care.  With regard to claimant’s neck, Dr. Stoken opined claimant had sustained a 5 percent whole person impairment, recommended pain management care, and again adopted the results of the FCE in imposing permanent work restrictions.  (Ex. 7, pp. 92-93)
Ms. Kestel testified that the restrictions imposed by Dr. Stoken would not prohibit claimant from performing the button bone job or final trim job, with the exception of hanging the whizzard knife in the button bones job.  Ms. Kestel testified she was unaware of any of claimant’s previous work experience and offered no opinions on the impact of Dr. Stoken’s restrictions upon those duties.  (Ms. Kestel’s testimony)  

Claimant testified he continues to suffer from constant pain in the front, top, and back of his right shoulder, as well as in his neck.  He does not take any prescription medication to treat his pain.  Claimant also denied performing any exercises targeted to his neck or right shoulder.  Claimant testified he remains employed, full time, in the final trim job.  He performs the duties in the same fashion as the other employees in this position.  Duties involve trimming loins weighing 2 to 4 pounds and do not involve overhead work.  Claimant testified he believes himself capable of continuing these duties and denied any attempts to bid into other positions within the year prior to evidentiary hearing.  He earns slightly more than at the time of his work injury, as he received standard, across-the-board, raises.   
Claimant testified he believes he may be capable of performing the duties of the button bones job as it is not heavy in nature, but when attempted, did result in more severe pain than his current job.  Claimant’s prior job cutting and throwing loins could prove problematic as it required claimant to reach over shoulder-level to retrieve loins.  Claimant testified he did not believe himself capable of performing the “open face” job, as the strength needed to cut the hog and the speed of the work would produce pain in his right shoulder and neck.    

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The first issue for determination is whether the stipulated injury of September 10, 2009 is a cause of permanent disability.  If established, the next issue for determination is the extent of claimant’s industrial disability.  These issues will be considered together. 
The party who would suffer loss if an issue were not established has the burden of proving that issue by a preponderance of the evidence.  Iowa R. App. P. 6.14(6).

The claimant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the injury is a proximate cause of the disability on which the claim is based.  A cause is proximate if it is a substantial factor in bringing about the result; it need not be the only cause.  A preponderance of the evidence exists when the causal connection is probable rather than merely possible.  George A. Hormel & Co. v. Jordan, 569 N.W.2d 148 (Iowa 1997); Frye v. Smith-Doyle Contractors, 569 N.W.2d 154 (Iowa App. 1997); Sanchez v. Blue Bird Midwest, 554 N.W.2d 283 (Iowa App. 1996).

The question of causal connection is essentially within the domain of expert testimony.  The expert medical evidence must be considered with all other evidence introduced bearing on the causal connection between the injury and the disability.  Supportive lay testimony may be used to buttress the expert testimony and, therefore, is also relevant and material to the causation question.  The weight to be given to an expert opinion is determined by the finder of fact and may be affected by the accuracy of the facts the expert relied upon as well as other surrounding circumstances.  The expert opinion may be accepted or rejected, in whole or in part.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); IBP, Inc. v. Harpole, 621 N.W.2d 410 (Iowa 2001); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire and Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995).  Miller v. Lauridsen Foods, Inc., 525 N.W.2d 417 (Iowa 1994).  Unrebutted expert medical testimony cannot be summarily rejected.  Poula v. Siouxland Wall & Ceiling, Inc., 516 N.W.2d 910 (Iowa App. 1994).

Following the stipulated work injury of September 10, 2009, claimant has been left with residual, constant pain in his right shoulder and neck regions.  Claimant testified to this pain at the time of evidentiary hearing and consistently relayed his complaints to medical providers throughout the course of his evaluations and treatment, leading Dr. Stoken to opine claimant’s pain in those regions had become chronic.  Furthermore, claimant underwent a valid functional capacity evaluation at the conclusion of his active treatment with the results yielding limitations more restrictive than those in place prior to his current work-related injury.  The more restrictive nature of those limitations is evidenced by claimant’s inability to perform the button bones job following his release due to increased pain symptoms, whereas claimant was able to perform these duties prior to the work-related injury.  Based upon claimant’s continued complaints, more restrictive limitations, and inability to engage in a prior employment position without increased symptoms, it is determined claimant has proven he sustained a permanent disability as a result of the work-related injury of September 10, 2009.  
Under the Iowa Workers’ Compensation Act, permanent partial disability is compensated either for a loss or loss of use of a scheduled member under Iowa Code section 85.34(2)(a)-(t) or for loss of earning capacity under section 85.34(2)(u).  The parties stipulated claimant’s permanent disability shall be evaluated as an industrial disability pursuant to section 85.34(2)(u).
Since claimant has an impairment to the body as a whole, an industrial disability has been sustained.  Industrial disability was defined in Diederich v. Tri-City R. Co., 219 Iowa 587, 258 N.W. 899 (1935) as follows:  "It is therefore plain that the legislature intended the term 'disability' to mean 'industrial disability' or loss of earning capacity and not a mere 'functional disability' to be computed in the terms of percentages of the total physical and mental ability of a normal man."

Functional impairment is an element to be considered in determining industrial disability which is the reduction of earning capacity, but consideration must also be given to the injured employee's age, education, qualifications, experience, motivation, loss of earnings, severity and situs of the injury, work restrictions, inability to engage in employment for which the employee is fitted and the employer's offer of work or failure to so offer.  McSpadden v. Big Ben Coal Co., 288 N.W.2d 181 (Iowa 1980); Olson v. Goodyear Service Stores, 255 Iowa 1112, 125 N.W.2d 251 (1963); Barton v. Nevada Poultry Co., 253 Iowa 285, 110 N.W.2d 660 (1961).

Compensation for permanent partial disability shall begin at the termination of the healing period.  Compensation shall be paid in relation to 500 weeks as the disability bears to the body as a whole.  Section 85.34.

Claimant was 58 years of age at the time of evidentiary hearing.  His work history consists entirely of unskilled to semi-skilled labor in agriculture and for defendant’s meatpacking plant.  The extent of claimant’s formal education is the second grade in his native Mexico.  As such, claimant is able to speak Spanish, but his reading and writing skills in that language are limited.  Claimant lacks appreciable English language skills and is unable to speak, read, or write in English.  Claimant’s age and lack of education or specialized training, when coupled with his lack of English or advanced Spanish language skills, makes retraining of claimant highly unlikely to be successful. 
Claimant suffered a work-related injury in June 2002 which resulted in imposition of work restrictions of a maximum lift of 20 pounds frequently and 35 pounds occasionally, and occasional bending, twisting, squatting, kneeling, climbing, and crawling.  Claimant was able to work the button bone job with these restrictions.  Following a diagnosis of neck and shoulder arthritis in 2005, Dr. Archer added restrictions to those already in place as a result of the 2002 work injury.  The new restrictions included no overhead reach or lift, avoidance of turning the wrist while working, and avoidance of static head positioning.    

Following the stipulated injury of September 10, 2009, claimant sustained an injury or injuries to his neck and right shoulder regions.  Claimant treated with health services and then was referred to Dr. Archer, who imposed work restrictions and recommended evaluation by Dr. Deffer.  Dr. Deffer initially opined the majority of claimant’s symptoms arose from the right shoulder, rather than the neck, and assumed care for claimant’s right shoulder complaints.  An MRI revealed a partial thickness rotator cuff tear.  However, due to noted issues interacting with claimant and an examination which revealed full shoulder range of motion, no crepitus, and no pain, Dr. Deffer opined claimant’s rotator cuff tear was asympomatic and the true source of pain was in claimant’s neck.  He therefore did not recommended shoulder surgery, but instead recommended additional neck care with Dr. Archer. 
Upon return to Dr. Archer, Dr. Archer also noted difficulties interviewing claimant, stating claimant was vague in responses that made locating the source of symptoms difficult.  Bilateral EMGs were within normal limits, but demonstrated a very mild case of bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome, which accounted for the right upper extremity complaints.  Dr. Archer opined that the work injury did not cause claimant’s carpal tunnel syndrome, yet acknowledged claimant was asymptomatic prior to the work injury. He recommended referral to Dr. Tobon, in hopes that a first-hand evaluation in Spanish would help to determine the true cause of claimant’s symptoms.  
Dr. Tobon noted pain with passive range of motion of the right shoulder and opined the cause was likely some degree of rotator cuff sprain, caused by a local pathology in the shoulder.  At a follow-up visit, Dr. Tobon reiterated his belief that claimant’s right shoulder symptoms were not neurological in nature and more likely were caused by an intrinsic shoulder injury.  With regard to the shoulder condition, Dr. Tobon indicated he deferred to orthopedics and recommended consideration of a reevaluation by orthopedics.  Dr. Tobon assumed care of claimant’s carpal tunnel syndrome and neck condition.  Dr. Tobon recommended conservative care of claimant’s carpal tunnel syndrome.  A cervical MRI revealed minimal bulging at C4-5 and C5-6 and a very small protrusion at C6-7.  Dr. Tobon opined that claimant’s neck condition did not explain claimant’s continued symptoms, however.  Dr. Tobon opined claimant could return to work without restrictions.    

Claimant returned to Dr. Archer on March 19, 2010.  Despite claimant’s continued complaints of right shoulder and neck pain, Dr. Archer indicated he and two evaluating specialists had failed to locate a significant functional abnormality and opined claimant had achieved MMI.  Dr. Archer returned claimant to work the button bone job and opined claimant had not suffered a ratable permanent impairment.  Claimant was returned to the final trim job and soon after, attempted to bid into the button bones job.  As defendant’s personnel believed the button bones job was outside claimant’s restrictions, a letter was drafted to Dr. Archer questioning if restrictions were still indicated.  Dr. Archer summarily indicated they were not, effectively rescinding claimant’s restrictions.  Claimant was allowed to perform the button bones job, but soon returned to the final trim position due to increased complaints.

Upon conclusion of active medical treatment, on April 20, 2010, claimant underwent a valid functional capacity evaluation.  Results of the FCE placed claimant in the light physical demand category, corresponding to a maximum lift of 25 pounds rarely, 15 pounds occasionally, and 5 pounds frequently, all in front carry tasks.  The results of the FCE were adopted as claimant’s permanent restrictions by IME physician, Dr. Stoken.  Dr. Stoken also expressly added a restriction recommending avoidance of work at or above shoulder level.  Dr. Stoken examined and evaluated all of claimant’s complaints and opined claimant’s work injury had caused a right shoulder contusion, right rotator cuff tear, and upper thoracic and neck contusions with disc protrusions at C5-6 and C6-7.  She also opined claimant had developed chronic pain of the neck and right shoulder.  Dr. Stoken opined claimant had sustained permanent impairments of 8 person whole person relative to the right shoulder and 5 percent whole person relative to the neck.       
Upon review of the medical records, it appears that Dr. Stoken is the only physician to evaluate claimant relative to each of his conditions in his neck and shoulder.  Unlike Drs. Archer, Tobon, and Deffer, Dr. Stoken did not parcel out evaluation and defer to another physician regarding claimant’s conditions.  It is understood that treating physicians specialize, thus proving better suited to treatment of certain conditions than others.  However, in the current matter, due to their evaluations and difficulty eliciting clear responses through interview, each specialist related claimant’s ongoing symptoms to conditions associated with the bodily region they were not treating.  Dr. Deffer, who was evaluating claimant’s shoulder, indicated the neck was the cause of claimant’s symptoms.  Dr. Tobon, who was evaluating claimant’s neck, related claimant’s symptoms to the right shoulder.  Despite Dr. Tobon’s recommendation for orthopedic reevaluation, this was not completed, and Dr. Archer did not offer care for either condition and instead released claimant to return to work.  
Due to each physician’s focus upon only one region of claimant’s body, their opinions regarding the need for restrictions are discounted, as it is unclear whether such recommendations are due to claimant’s entire condition or simply part thereof.  Dr. Archer’s decision to summarily rescind claimant’s work restrictions is also troublesome, as Dr. Archer did so without any written explanation in his own hand.  Dr. Archer had previously treated claimant for conditions which resulted in the need for permanent restrictions, yet he did not address whether he sought to rescind all restrictions and allow a full duty release or instead, simply remove those additional restrictions imposed due to this work injury.  Furthermore, one month later, claimant underwent a valid functional capacity evaluation which found limitations more restrictive than those 
previously in place.  The results were adopted by Dr. Stoken in her comprehensive evaluation.  Due to these factors, it is determined the results of the FCE and the opinions of Dr. Stoken are entitled to greater weight than those of Drs. Archer, Deffer, and Tobon.   
Throughout the process of evaluation and treatment, defendant has consistently offered and claimant accepted positions within restrictions imposed by the treating medical providers.  Following conclusion of medical care, claimant returned to his pre-injury position and remains employed in that position on a full-time basis.  He performs his duties in the same fashion as other employees and earns slightly more than he did at the time of his work injury, as he received standard raises.  In the year preceding evidentiary hearing, claimant did not attempt to bid into any other positions.  Claimant expressed the ability and willingness to continue working in this position.  Claimant complains of constant pain in his right shoulder and neck, but does not perform home exercises for these regions or take prescription medication.  
In all likelihood, due to the longevity of claimant’s employment with defendant and his current limitations, claimant is likely to remain in the employ of defendant as long as possible.  Claimant has been employed by defendant since 1998, holding four full-time, regular bid, employment positions during the course of his employment.  Claimant does not believe himself capable of returning to his first two positions with defendant, as the open face job is fast paced and involved exertion of force with his right arm and the loin cutting job required overhead work.  He believes he could possibly return to the button bone job; however, claimant initially attempted to do so upon his release and doing so caused increased symptoms and prompted claimant’s return to the final trim position.  Ms. Kestel stated she believed the button bones job was within claimant’s restrictions as imposed by Dr. Stoken, with the exception of overhead reach to retrieve and hang the whizzard knife.  Claimant’s work for defendant is that which has maximized his earning potential and that for which claimant is best suited.       Due to claimant’s restrictions, claimant is foreclosed from at least two, likely three, of the four employment positions he has held with defendant.  It is also is highly unlikely claimant would be able to return to heavy agricultural work. 
Upon review of the above and all other relevant factors of industrial disability, it is determined claimant has sustained a 60 percent loss of earning capacity as a result of the stipulated injury of September 10, 2009.  The parties stipulated that pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.34(7)(b), defendant is entitled to a credit for 15 percent industrial disability sustained due to the June 1, 2002 date of injury.  The award of 60 percent industrial disability is therefore considered partially satisfied to the extent of the previously paid 15 percent industrial disability.  Following application of this partial satisfaction, claimant is entitled to an additional 45  percent industrial disability as a result of the September 10, 2009 date of injury.  Such an award entitles claimant to 225 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits (45 percent x 500 weeks = 225 weeks), 
commencing on the stipulated date of September 10, 2009.  The parties stipulated claimant’s gross earnings at the time of the work injury were $702.12 and claimant was married and entitled to 4 exemptions.  The proper rate of compensation is $486.04.  
The final issue for determination is a specific taxation of costs pursuant to Iowa Code section 86.40 and Iowa Administrative Code 876—4.33(86).  Claimant requests taxation of the costs of: $100.00 filing fee; $11.08 service fees; $2,700 IME of Dr. Stoken; and $850.00 FCE.  Defendant stipulated to responsibility for the $2700.00 cost of claimant’s IME and represented that in the event defendant had not already done so, payment would be made therefore.  Payment has been made for the remaining costs, with the exception of claimant’s FCE cost.  Defendant disputes taxation of the $850.00 cost of claimant’s FCE.  With the exception of the FCE cost which will be addressed separately, these are allowable costs and are taxed to defendants.  
Iowa Code section 86.40 states:
Costs.  All costs incurred in the hearing before the commissioner shall be taxed in the discretion of the commissioner.
Iowa Administrative Code Rule 876—4.33(86) states:

Costs.  Costs taxed by the workers’ compensation commissioner or a deputy commissioner shall be (1) attendance of a certified shorthand reporter or presence of mechanical means at hearings and evidential depositions, (2) transcription costs when appropriate, (3) costs of service of the original notice and subpoenas, (4) witness fees and expenses as provided by Iowa Code sections 622.69 and 622.72, (5) the costs of doctors’ and practitioners’ deposition testimony, provided that said costs do not exceed the amounts provided by Iowa Code sections 622.69 and 622.72, (6) the reasonable costs of obtaining no more than two doctors’ or practitioners’ reports, (7) filing fees when appropriate, (8) costs of persons reviewing health service disputes. Costs of service of notice and subpoenas shall be paid initially to the serving person or agency by the party utilizing the service. Expenses and fees of witnesses or of obtaining doctors’ or practitioners’ reports initially shall be paid to the witnesses, doctors or practitioners by the party on whose behalf the witness is called or by whom the report is requested. Witness fees shall be paid in accordance with Iowa Code section 622.74. Proof of payment of any cost shall be filed with the workers’ compensation commissioner before it is taxed. The party initially paying the expense shall be reimbursed by the party taxed with the cost. If the expense is unpaid, it shall be paid by the party taxed with the cost. Costs are to be assessed at the discretion of the deputy commissioner or workers’ compensation commissioner hearing the case unless otherwise required by the rules of civil procedure governing discovery.  This rule is intended to implement Iowa Code section 86.40.
Rule 4.33 allows for the taxation of reasonable costs associated with obtaining two reports of doctors or practitioners.  The relevant inquiry with regard to taxation of the FCE cost is therefore whether the FCE was required by a doctor or practitioner, as necessary for completion of a medical report.  In this instance, specifically, whether Dr. Stoken required the FCE in order to evaluate claimant’s permanent disability and need for restrictions.  If so, taxation of the reasonable cost of an FCE is appropriate, as a necessary component of procuring a report by a doctor.  If not, taxation of the cost of an FCE is inappropriate.  There is no evidence in the record that Dr. Stoken required the FCE.  Therefore, the cost of the FCE is not taxed to defendant.  
ORDER


THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED:

Defendant shall pay unto claimant two hundred twenty-five (225) weeks of permanent partial disability benefits commencing September 10, 2009 at the rate of four hundred eighty-six and 04/100 dollars ($486.04). 

Defendant shall pay accrued weekly benefits in a lump sum.

Defendant shall pay interest on unpaid weekly benefits awarded herein as set forth in Iowa Code section 85.30.

Defendant shall receive credit for benefits paid.

Defendant shall file subsequent reports of injury as required by this agency pursuant to rule 876 IAC 3.1(2).

Costs are taxed to defendant pursuant to 876 IAC 4.33, as set forth in this decision.  

Signed and filed this ___10th____ day of April, 2012.
   ________________________







  ERICA J. ELLIOTT
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19 IF  = 20 “Right to Appeal:  This decision shall become final unless you or another interested party appeals within 20 days from the date above, pursuant to rule 876-4.27 (17A, 86) of the Iowa Administrative Code.  The notice of appeal must be in writing and received by the commissioner’s office within 20 days from the date of the decision.  The appeal period will be extended to the next business day if the last day to appeal falls on a weekend or a legal holiday.  The notice of appeal must be filed at the following address:  Workers’ Compensation Commissioner, Iowa Division of Workers’ Compensation, 1000 E. Grand Avenue, Des Moines, Iowa  50319-0209.” 


